FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/16/2024 11:29 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102906-3

SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

GUSTAVO TAPIA RODRIGUEZ,

Defendant/Appellant.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW,

Dennis W. Morgan WSBA #5286 Attorney for Appellant PO Box 1019 Republic, Washington 99166 (509) 775-0777

1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Gustavo Tapia Rodriguez requests the relief designated in Part 2 of this Petition.

2. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez seeks review of an Unpublished Opinion of Division III of the Court of Appeals dated February 29, 2024. (Appendix "A" 1-27)

3. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Does the Court of Appeals decision, differentiating between prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of counsel as pertains to the potential for racial bias, conflict with the decision in *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 512 P.3d 512 (2022) in contravention of RAP 13.4 (b)(1); and/or, conflict with the decision in *State v. Gutierrez III*, 22 Wn. App.2d 815, 513 P.3d 812 (2022) in contravention of RAP 13.4 (b)(2); and/or raise a significant question of law under the provisions of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Const. art I, §§ 3 and 22 in contravention of RAP 13.4 (b)(3);

and/or rise to the level of an issue of substantial public interest that needs to be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4 (b)(4)?

B. If so, as to any provision of RAP 13.4 (b), was defense counsel ineffective?

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury determined that Mr. Tapia Rodriguez was guilty of all five counts of a consolidated Information, including all of the alternatives, enhancements and aggravators. Judgment and Sentence was entered on April 20, 2020. (CP 448; CP 449; CP 450; CP 451; CP 452; CP 453; CP 455; CP 456; CP 458; CP 460; CP 461; CP 502)

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez is currently serving a life sentence without possibility of parole (LWOP).

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2020.

The Court of Appeals issued its initial decision on February 8, 2022. The State then filed a Motion to Stay

proceedings pending the decision in *State v. Westwood*, 2 Wn.3d 157 (2022). (Appendix "B")

After the Court of Appeals lifted the stay Mr. Tapia Rodriguez and the State each filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the February 8, 2022 decision.

On February 29, 2024 the Court of Appeals denied both reconsideration motions. (Appendix "C")

The Court of Appeals, in that decision, determined that defense counsel was not ineffective with regard to evident bias of juror No. 16. The Court's decision states:

The record supports the State's position that defense counsel's decision not to challenge or remove venire juror 16 was a reasonable strategic decision; that is, defense counsel thought he could establish to juror 16's satisfaction that Tapia Rodriguez was born in Texas and thus United States citizen. while establishing that the surviving victim was in the United States illegally. We conclude that defense counsel was not ineffective.

The Court of Appeals then notes in fn 4 its determination that there is a distinguishable difference between prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of counsel.

The Court of Appeals went on to determine that the trial court did not have a duty to *sua sponte* to remove juror No. 16.

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez asserts that the foregoing aspects of the Court of Appeals decision constitute the crux of why he is entitled to have his convictions reversed and a new trial ordered.

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez filed a pro se letter with the Court of Appeals on March 18, 2024 requesting an extension of time to file his Petition for Discretionary Review. (Appendix "D")

Appellate counsel's motion to withdraw was granted on March 19, 2024 (Appendix "E")

Division I of the Court of Appeals issued an email dated April 3, 2024 granting an extension of time to April 3, 2024 (Appendix "F")

The Clerk of the Supreme Court issued a letter dated April 1, 2024 granting Mr. Tapia Rodriguez's extension request. A due date of May 16, 2024 was set. (Appendix "G")

5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Our constitutions separate power into many hands. Among those hands are the hands of the jury. CONST . art. I, § 22; U.S. CONST. amend. VI. Juries are just as vital a check on government power as the separation of powers between the legislative, executive, and judicial branches. See Hale v. Wellpinit Sch. Dist. No. 49, 165 Wn.2d 494, 504, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009). To perform their vital function, juries must be fairly selected. State v. Lanciloti, 165 Wn.2d 661, 667-68, 201 P.3d 323 (2009). Jury selection must be done in a fair way that does not exclude qualified jurors on inappropriate grounds, including race. See City of Seattle v. Erickson, 188 Wn.2d 721, 723, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017) (citing *Batson* v. tucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986)); GR 37. As part of their constitutional role, courts ultimately have the obligation of ensuring those before them receive due process of law. See, e.g., State v. Oppelt, 172 Wn.2d 285, 288,

257 P.3d 653 (2011); City of Redmond v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 677, 91 P.3d 875 (2004).

State v. Pierce, 195 Wn.2d 230, 455 P.3d 647 (2020).

Under no circumstances can defense counsel's exchange with juror No. 16 be considered reasonable. Juror No. 16 did not hide his bias. Juror No.16 could not unequivocally state that he could be impartial. The bias was an actual bias.

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez's claim that juror no. 16 was biased is based upon the following exchange that occurred during voir dire between the juror and defense counsel:

MR. KENTNER: Well, the state had talked to all of you about immigration, the policies, ([See: RP 444, 1. 17 to RP 459, 1. 15]; Appendix "H") is it going to disappoint you that that's not even relevant in this case?

JUROR []: No, not at all.

MR. KENTNER: Okay. Is everybody going to feel comfortable not delving into that? We all know he's of Mexican dissent (*sic*), we all know. Number 16, I'm sorry.

JUROR 16: Given that I came into this country legally, I think it will bother me.

MR. KENTNER: Illegally or legally?

JUROR 16: Legally.

MR. KENTNER: So it would bother you?

JUROR 16: It would influence my decision, I would think.

MR. KENTNER: Thank you. Thank you for sharing that. Let me ask you a question. If the state doesn't have to prove that and you're never going to hear about that, would it still make a difference?

JUROR 16: So that's not going to be brought up is what you're saying?

MR. KENTNER: It's not going to be brought up. It doesn't matter because that's not the charge. He's not in immigration court, we're not trying to prove whether or not we're going to deport him or if he's a citizen. He may be a citizen, he may not. It's irrelevant. Because he's not charged with something that violates a federal law which says, hey, listen, we have the right to deport you if you don't have the necessary paperwork, whatever. JUROR 16: Sure, I think that thought would still linger in the back of my mind. MR. KENTNER: Would you hold that against him?

JUROR 16: Yes.

MR. KENTNER: Okay. If the judge asked you, hey, 16, I'm instructing you, you know, you're going to have to ignore that, set that aside. Would that be problematic for you?

JUROR 16: It might be.

MR. KENTNER: Okay. Okay. So what is it about an illegal, let's say in your mind you're thinking about this, what is it about someone illegally coming into the county which is offensive to you or you would have a problem getting past that? Can you share that with us, please? And I'm not judging you, so go ahead.

JUROR 16: Sure. Because this large part, myself and my family came here legally, and it was very hard to do so. We followed the proper channels to get to this

country legally. And so when you see somebody do it illegally, it doesn't matter what skin color they are, they're coming from Canada, it doesn't matter. If they're doing something illegally, they're breaking the law, they're breaking the law in this country.

MR. KENTNER: Thank you.

Do you think there's ever a justification, say for instance there's genocide in the country or there's a gang infested country or they're killing innocent people in various countries, is that ever going to be a legitimate reason to flee that dangerous country?

JUROR 16: Yes.

MR. KENTNER: Okay. Would that change your mind?

JUROR 16: Possibly, yes.

MR. KENTNER: *Possibly*. Unfortunately, we'll never be able to tell you about that. Because the judge, if I tried to introduce that, he would say, hold on a second, the state would probably say, irrelevant, and the judge would probably rule against me. *So knowing that that's a possibility would you still hold that against my client?*

JUROR 16: Yes.

MR. KENTNER: Okay. So is there anything we could convince you or say to you, even with the judge's instruction, say, you shouldn't hold that, that shouldn't be a factor?

JUROR 16: I'm ready to listen.

MR. KENTNER: You're ready to listen.

Have you judged him already, though?

JUROR 16: To some degree, yes.

MR. KENTNER: To some degree. Even

though you don't know his status?

JUROR 16: Like I said, I'm willing to lis-

ten.

MR. KENTNER: Thank you very much, number 16. I appreciate it.

(RP 507, 1. 2 to RP 510, 1. 15) (Emphasis supplied.)

JUROR 16: Yeah, it would bother me too.

MR. KENTNER: Similar to ten?

JUROR 16: Just like she said, you know, if you see it on TV, it's one thing, but if you're seeing it in real -- you know, real photographs, it would bother me, you

know. I don't believe in violence in that manner, so...

....

(RP 521, 11. 2-8)

A. RAP 13.4 (b)(1)

The following excerpt from *State v. Zamora*, *supra*, 710-11 supports that the Court of Appeals erroneously determined that juror bias was not present:

"The unmistakable principle underlying these precedents is that discrimination on the basis of race, 'odious in all aspects, is especially pernicious in the administration of justice." Peña-Rodriguez [Peña-Rodriguez v. Colorado, 580 U.S. , 137 S. Ct. 855, 197 L. Ed.2d 107 (2017)],137 S. Ct. at 868 (quoting Rose v. Mitchell, 443) U.S. 545, 555, 99 S. Ct. 2993, 61 L. Ed. **2d** 739 (1979)). Consistent with our cases, the United States Supreme Court has emphasized that courts have made efforts to "address the most grave and serious statements of racial bias[,]...not [in] an effort to perfect the jury but to ensure that our legal system remains capable of coming ever closer to the promise of equal treatment under the law that is so central to a functioning democracy." PeñaRodriguez, 137 S. Ct. at 868. Accordingly, courts have been "called upon to enforce the Constitution's guarantee against statesponsored racial discrimination in the jury system" and to safeguard "a criminal defendant's fundamental "protection of life and liberty against race or color prejudice."" Peña-Rodriguez, 137 S. Ct. at 867, 868 (quoting McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 310, 107 S. Ct. 1756, 95 L. Ed. 2d 262 (1987) (quoting Strauder v. West Virginia, 100 U.S. (10 Otto) 303, 309, 25 L. Ed. 664 (1880))); State v. Berhe, 193 Wn.2d 647, 658, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019) (same).

The *Zamora* case stands for the proposition that inquiries into immigration status during voir dire are no more constitutionally authorized than those involving race, gender, age, sexual preference or nationality.

B. RAP 13.4 (b)(2)

State v. Gutierrez, supra, is clear in its analysis that the seating of a biased juror precludes a trial from being constitutionally fair and impartial.

The Gutierrez Court noted at 819-20:

A defendant has a constitutional right to an unbiased jury trial. *City of Cheney v. Grunewald*, 55 Wn. App. 807, 810, 780 P.2d 1332 (1989). "When a juror makes an unqualified statement expressing actual bias, seating a juror is a manifest constitutional error." *State v. Irby*, 187 Wn. App. 183, 188, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015). It is well established that seating a biased juror is never harmless and requires a new trial regardless of actual prejudice. *State v. Guevara-Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 851, 456 P.3d 869, *review denied*, 195 Wn.2d 1025, 466 P.3d 772 (2020).

The *Gutierrez* case went on to further address the issue of a defendant's immigration status at 821:

... [Q]uestions about a person's immigration status may appear to be ethnically neutral because a person can immigrate from Canada or Mexico. But "[e]ven though the concern regarding immigration status does not explicitly implicate race, our country has made Latin ethnicity a proxy for undocumented immigration status." Micah K. Thompson, Bias On Trial: Toward An Open Discussion of Racial Stereotypes in the Courtroom, 2018 Mich. St. L. Rev. 1243, 1305.

The discussion between defense counsel and juror No. 16 falls directly within the prohibitions as to juror bias. In addition, GR 37 (a) and (g) further support the fact that the presence of juror No. 16 on the jury denied Mr. Tapia Rodriguez of his constitutional right to a fair and impartial trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Const. art. I §§ 3 and 22.

Finally, as far as the *Gutierrez* decision is concerned, the trial court also failed to take the appropriate steps to remove juror No. 16 or independently determine impartiality. The *Gutierrez* Court stated at 825-26:

Despite the highly strategic nature of voir dire, a trial court has an obligation to oversee the jury selection process. *Guevera-Diaz*, 11 Wn. App.2d 846. When a juror expresses actual bias and the attorneys do not move to excuse the juror, the court has an obligation to conduct an independent inquiry and excuse the juror if the court is satisfied that the juror cannot try the issues impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of parties. *Id.* at 855; RCW 4.44.170 (2). The failure to remove a biased juror requires a new trial without

the showing of prejudice. *Guevera-Diaz*, 11 Wn. App.2d at 855.

C. RAP 13.4 (b)(3)

The Court of Appeals decision seems to hinge on its belief that defense counsel's failure to either challenge juror No. 16 for cause, or to exercise a preemptory challenge against that juror was strategic and/or tactical. Inquires in connection with immigration status, racial background, prior experiences with individuals of minority races and similar facets of implied bias cannot be condoned as strategy or tactics.

Other cases have addressed the issue of trial strategy/tactics in connection with jury voir dire.

In *State v. Castro*, 141 Wn. App. 485, 493, 170 P.3d 78 (2007) the Court found that "when considering a juror's prior experiences, bias is presumed only where the juror fails to indicate that he or she can be impartial."

Juror No. 16 never stated that he could be impartial.

More in point is *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33-34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) where the Court held:

...[A] criminal defendant can rebut the presumption of reasonable performance by demonstrating that "there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." State Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 130, 101 P.3d 80); State v. Aho, 137 Wn.2d 736, 745-46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). Not all strategies or tactics on the part of defense counsel are immune from attack. "The relevant question is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000)....

D. RAP 13.4 (b)(4)

In *State v. Bell*, 26 Wn. App.2d 821, 529 P.3d 448 (2023) the Court reminded courts and counsel that the conduct of voir dire is inclusive of a many-faceted approach. The juror's demeanor, the context of his/her answers, body language, and similar aspects of individual perception and analysis come into play.

The *Bell* Court noted at 829:

Voir dire, the part of jury selection wherein the parties ask questions and engage in discussion with potential jurors to draw out potential bias, is central to securing the right to an impartial jury. State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 152, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). But voir dire is more than just a question and answer session; and the interactions that inform whether the parties request a potential juror's disqualification for cause—and whether the court grants that request are more than purely verbal. Instead, the parties and the court rely on all the modes by which one person may assess another's credibility, including their demeanor. *Uttecht v. Brown*, 551 U.S. 1, 2, 127 S. Ct. 2218, 167 L. Ed. 2d 1014 (2007); see also Reynolds v. United States, 98 U.S. 145, 156-57, 25 L. Ed. 244 (1878) ("[T]he manner of a juror while testifying is oftentimes more indicative of the real character of [their] opinion than [their] words.").

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez urges the Court to consider the significant impact that occurs when trial counsel, whether the prosecution or defense, crosses that barrier when questioning

evokes an aura of discrimination, however slight, that taints constitutional due process.

6. CONCLUSION

Public confidence in the judicial system is already at a low point and does not need to be further eroded.

Since defense counsel never used a preemptory challenge, nor a challenge for cause, the question of ineffective assistance of counsel comes into play.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make two showings: (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient, i.e., it fell objective standard of below an reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) defense counsel's deficient representation prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result pf the proceeding would have been different.

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez submits that the policy of GR 37 should be considered in connection with the defense counsel's questioning of juror No. 16. Defense counsel pursued a matter that is prohibited by GR 37, constitutional law, and caselaw.

GR 37 (a) provides: "The purpose of this rule is to eliminate the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race or ethnicity."

The flipside of the rule would read as follows: "The purpose of this rule is to eliminate the unfair inclusion of potential jurors who are biased due to race or ethnicity."

There must be no differentiation between prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of counsel when it comes to the jury selection process. Both the State and defense must strictly comply with GR 37 and the cautions set out by *Zamora*, *Gutierrez* and similar cases.

Mr. Tapia Rodriguez has met the criteria of RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (2), (3) and (4) and should be granted a new trial.

CERTIFICATE of COMPLIANCE: I certify under penalty of perjury that this document contains <u>3122</u> words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.