FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/17/2024 2:25 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1029063 Court of Appeals No. 37522-6-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

GUSTAVO TAPIA RODRIGUEZ, Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN MCCRAE GRANT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY WSBA #43087

P.O. Box 37 Ephrata, Washington 98823 PH: (509) 754-2011

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

5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Mr. Tapia's attorney attempted to exploit potential juror bias. He now complains about it. However, any error was invited. The invited error can be overcome by a demonstration of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, ineffective assistance of counsel requires that the defendant show that counsel was not acting with reasonable competence and that there is a reasonable probability that without counsel's malfeasance, the result of the trial would have been different.

Mr. Tapia only argues that counsel was unreasonable, he does

not argue there was any prejudice. Instead he argues that there should be no showing of prejudice required under *State v*.

Zamora, 199 Wn.2d 698, 701, 512 P.3d 512, 515 (2022). This argument misreads Zamora, encourages appeals to racial bias, and interferes with defendant's constitutional rights. The Court of Appeals was correct, and this petition should be rejected.

A. The alleged error was invited.

Under the doctrine of invited error, a party may not materially contribute to an erroneous application of law at trial and then complain of it on appeal. *Matter of Dependency of A.L.K.*, 196 Wn.2d 686, 694–95, 478 P.3d 63, 67 (2020) (citing *In re Det. of Rushton*, 190 Wn. App. 358, 372, 359 P.3d 935 (2015)). To determine whether the doctrine applies, the court considers "whether the defendant affirmatively assented to the error, materially contributed to it, or benefited from it." *In re Pers. Restraint of Coggin*, 182 Wn.2d 115, 119, 340 P.3d 810 (2014) (plurality opinion); *see also In re Pers. Restraint of*

Thompson, 141 Wn.2d 712, 724, 10 P.3d 380 (2000) (requiring knowing and voluntary action for invited error).

As the Court of Appeals found, and Mr. Tapia does not dispute in this petition, Mr. Tapia's counsel attempted to play to anti-immigrant bias by ensuring the State's witnesses were portrayed as undocumented immigrants, and attempting to portray Mr. Tapia as being born in the U.S. Here the defendant materially contributed and attempted to benefit from the alleged error of seating the allegedly biased juror. Therefore this complaint falls clearly under the invited error doctrine. Even constitutional error cannot be complained of on appeal. *State v. Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870, 792 P.2d 514, 516 (1990). See also *In re Copland*, 176 Wn. App. 432, 442, 309 P.3d 626, 631 (2013)

B. Mr. Tapia does not establish ineffective assistance of counsel.

Invited error, however, does not preclude a claim that counsel was ineffective in inviting the error. *State v. Kyllo*, 166

Wn.2d 856, 861, 215 P.3d 177, 180 (2009). "To establish ineffective assistance of counsel the defendant must establish that his attorney's performance was deficient and the deficiency prejudiced the defendant." Id. at 862, citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Mr. Tapia says that appeals to racial bias, assuming that is what occurred, are deficient performance by the defense attorney. Perhaps so, perhaps not. They are definitely offensive, but a zealous defense attorney is sometimes called upon to do offensive things. What Mr. Tapia does not allege, in any way, is that counsel's alleged unprofessional conduct prejudiced him. The prejudice prong requires the defendant to prove that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different." Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 862. Mr. Tapia does not even try to meet this prong. Instead he argues that the automatic reversal standard of State v. Zamora should be applied.

C. Applying the automatic reversal standard to defense counsel's actions would interfere with the defendant's right to present a defense and encourage appeals to racial bias. It should be rejected.

In Zamora the Court applied the GR 37 standard to a prosecutor's actions. The Court applied a standard as to whether an objective observer could view the prosecutor's questions and comments as an appeal to bias. Zamora, 199 Wn.2d at 718. The Court ruled that if this standard was satisfied, reversal was automatic without an ability to show the error was harmless. Id. The reason for this automatic reversal was the need to deter a prosecutor from engaging in appeals to racial bias. Id. at 722.

However, because of different incentives and the vagueness of the rule, such a rule applied to defense counsel would be counterproductive. The GR 37 rule is an over inclusive blunderbuss. In its quest to root out appeals to racial bias it also disallows many legitimate arguments and issues. In cases subsequent to *Zamora*, it has become clear that no one

can find a clear line between legitimate advocacy and appeals to racial bias that can be applied consistently. Even the nine justices of the Washington Supreme Court cannot agree. State v. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d 777, 780, 522 P.3d 982, 986 (2023)(Four justice lead opinion holding discussion of a dog is an appeal to racial bias, five justice concurring opinion holding it is not in context). Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wn.2d 417, 447, 518 P.3d 1011, 1029 (2022), cert. denied, 143 S. Ct. 2412, 216 L. Ed. 2d 1276 (2023); Statement respecting denial of certiorari, Alito J. 600 U.S. (2023)¹(two Washington Supreme Court justice dissent describing certain impeachment tactics as legitimate, while the majority opinion considered them appeals to racial bias, two U.S. Supreme Court justices considering all the tactics as the normal part of legitimate argument, and restricting a parties ability to raise normal arguments because they could be considered appeals to racial bias to raise serious

¹ https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/22pdf/22-823_m648.pdf (last visited May 24, 2024)

questions under the due process and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment). *State v. Loring*, 39282-1-III, 2024 WL 2074738 (Wash. Ct. App. May 9, 2024)(unpublished). (Two judges finding the use of the term "Gorilla pimp" reasonable in context, one disagreeing). *State v. Hernandez*, 544 P.3d 542 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024), *as revised* (June 4, 2024)(two judges finding no basis for GR 37 challenge, dissenting judge finding a reasonable observer could find racial bias.)

Because the GR 37 standard is drastically over inclusive to its purpose it often comes into conflict in application with other constitutional rights. These can include the equal protection and due process clauses of the 14th amendment. See *Henderson v. Thompson*, Statement respecting denial of certiorari, Alito, J. In this case Mr. Tapia's argument brings the GR 37 standard into conflict with the constitutional right to control and present his defense. The Court in *Zamora* specifically stated "the Constitution at times demands that

defendants be permitted to ask questions about racial bias during voir dire in an effort to ensure individuals who sit on juries are free from racial bias." *Id.* At 522. Yet Mr. Tapia says defense counsel should not be allowed to ask, and if they do the case should be reversed. Thus Mr. Tapia's proposed rule to prevent defense counsel from asking about immigration issues flies directly in the face of the right to control and present a defense.

Because the GR 37 standard is a "could" standard, it is entirely possible for an argument to exist in two states at once. A reasonable objective observer could consider the argument an appeal to racial bias, while also considering an argument a legitimate tactic, even one constitutionally required to be allowed. This type of Schrodinger's cat argument exists until the appellate court observes it and places it in one state or the other. An example of this type of argument exists in this case. Mr. Tapia introduced evidence that the State's cooperating witness, Mr. Albarron Varona, had a fake social security card

and a fake permanent residency card. RP 951. The State objected to the introduction of evidence about the fake cards as not probative in this case. RP 957. The trial court ruled, under ER 608 and *State v. Johnson*, 90 Wn. App. 54, 71, 950 P.2d 981, 990 (1998), that the prior use of an alias or false identification was admissible for impeachment purposes. The Court also focused on the fact that Mr. Alabrran Verona's testimony and credibility were central to the case. RP 961.

In hindsight and in the context of this case a reasonable objective observer could, and probably would, conclude that the primary purpose of the introduction of the evidence about these false documents was to show that Mr. Alabrran Verona was an undocumented immigrant, not to impeach his truthfulness. On the other hand if the Court had refused to allow the impeachment Mr. Tapia would now be complaining about his right to present his defense and confront witnesses against him. The trial court was understandably concerned about the defense's ability to provide impeachment evidence of a primary

State's witness. Because there is a strong argument that such evidence was required to be admitted to allow Mr. Tapia to present his defense, and strong evidence that it violated the GR 37 standard, the GR 37 standard has to yield to the federal constitutional right.

Mr. Tapia now asks for the second best outcome he can achieve from a trial, the granting of a new trial, based on his counsel's appeal to arguable racial bias. The Zamora court adopted the automatic reversal standard to deter prosecutors from engaging in such appeals. Zamora, 199 Wn.2d at 722. It is easy to see how an automatic reversal standard is an incentive to prosecutors to stay well clear of any implication of racial bias, even to the point of compromising the truth seeking function of a trial. However, what is a deterrent to prosecutors may very well be an incentive to defense counsel. After an acquittal, a new trial is the best outcome a defense attorney can hope to achieve. It requires the State to reveal its hand, gives the defendant a second chance at a plea agreement after seeing

the likelihood of conviction at trial and requires the State to spend more resources to retry the case. If Mr. Tapia's rule is adopted It would almost be mal practice for defense counsel not to try to try to invoke racial bias in the hopes of guaranteeing a reversal in the event of a conviction.

Nor would things like professional sanctions through the bar act as a deterrent. As discussed above, the GR 37 standard has a lot of vagueness about whether it applies in any given situation, and even more in whether it has to be subordinated to other higher constitutional imperatives. The standard admits there may be an appropriate motivation in the attorney's mind, but the action will be disallowed if an objective observer could consider it motivated by racial bias. The State Bar, correctly, gives the benefit of the doubt to attorneys presenting an argument. If a defense attorney plausibly argues that the defendant's rights would be violated if he followed the GR 37 "could" rule the bar could not and should not impose sanctions, even if a court later disagreed with that position.

The automatic reversal rule in *Zamora* is designed to ensure prosecutors stay well away from the line of appealing to racial bias. Applying that rule to defense attorney conduct, as Mr. Tapia suggests, encourages defense attorneys to get as close to the line as possible, or even over the line, with reversal a positive consequence for them. Mr. Tapia's proposed rule would only encourage appeals to inappropriate racial bias. It should be rejected.

D. The juror's answers were equivocal enough not to require judicial dismissal

A trial judge walks a tightrope in a trial. He must monitor for fairness, yet not interfere with a parties' presentation of their case. The juror's statements here did not show unequivocal bias, and were not more biased than other jurors whom courts have allowed to remain on juries. In *State v. Lawler*, 194 Wn. App. 275, 279, 374 P.3d 278, 280 (2016), the juror, in response to the prosecutor's questioning, stated "I

don't see how I could be objective with all that past experience." When the prosecutor asked juror 23 if he could set his personal experiences aside and follow the trial court's instruction, he replied, "Honestly, I think that would be a pain in the neck, you know. I don't think I would be able to do that with all these experiences." *Id.* at 279-80. In *State v. Hernandez*, 544 P.3d 542 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024), *as revised* (June 4, 2024) the trial judge denied a motion to dismiss for cause when the ultimate question and answer were:

Q: So would you be able to be open minded with those officers who testify in this trial despite your bad experience with the officer who pulled you over at that time?

A: It would be difficult. But I would say no, to be honest.

The juror did later admit that not all officers were the same.

In *State v. Gutierrez*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 815, 818, 513 P.3d 812, 814 (2022), the case relied upon by Mr. Tapia in this case, the concluding discussion between defense counsel and the juror was:

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NUMBER 16: If I didn't know then I would have—I guess no reason to question that, I guess, if he was a U.S. citizen or not. If he's not a U.S. citizen he's already guilty. He shouldn't be here.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Well, fair enough. That's a good point. But you wouldn't be saying then if he's not a citizen, he's guilty of the charges here, the robbery, the assault, the possession of a gun, you wouldn't be saying that because that's wholly separate, right?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NUMBER 16: Yes. Yeah. I mean, if I don't know—I just—that would be—that wouldn't be part of the—my answer for it. So, yeah.

In this (the Tapia) case the juror's comments were equivocal, he said, he was "ready to listen." He said it might be problematic to set aside any bias against an unlawful immigrant, not that it would be problematic. He also said there was information that could change his mind. While the differences are nuanced, this case clearly falls into the *Lawler* and *Hernandez* side of the line regarding juror expressions of bias, that would not be a mandatory dismissal for cause, even without a motion by a defense attorney.

This case does not conflict with Zamora or Gutierrez.

Zamora was expressly concerned with State appeals to bias. To adopt Mr. Tapia's proposed rule would actually incentivize appeals to bias, contrary to the goals of Zamora. Nor does the case conflict with Guiterrez. The issues of whether and when a judge should interfere with jury selection are fact based and nuanced. This case clearly falls along the Lawler Hernandez side of the line, and this case is distinguishable from Gutierrez on the facts. Nor does this case raise an issue of significant public concern. Unlike Zamora this is not the State allegedly appealing to unwarranted bias. The petition should be denied.

6. CONCLUSION

Mr. Tapia claims his attorney was unreasonable for appealing to anti-immigrant bias. But he does not claim there was any prejudice. Nor could he given the number of eye witnesses and physical evidence, including Mr. Tapia's fingerprint on the door frame of the victim vehicle. Zamora's automatic reversal standard in this case would conflict with the

very purpose it was instituted for, as it would incentivize appeals to racial bias. This case does not meet any of the requirements of RAP 13.4. The petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 3,898 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.